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THE LEGACY OF VINCENT VAN GOGH was not just a great number of beautiful paintings and drawings but also the most fascinating artist's correspondence that we know. Great artists have been inspired by the wealth of artistic and philosophical ideas expressed in his letters, and writers have placed these moving documents humains in the front rank of world literature. For more than a century, readers and art lovers have been swept away by the story of this rebel and seeker.


During Van Gogh's lifetime (1853-1890), there were a few people in his immediate circle who already recognized the originality of his ideas and his ability to express them in a distinctive way. Within three years of his death, long excerpts from his letters began to appear in Mercure de France, the leading French journal of art and literature. A German translation of these excerpts was made, and thousands of copies of this were sold in the first decade of the twentieth century. The publication in 1914 of a three-volume edition of Van Gogh's Brieven aan zijn broeder (Letters to his brother) finally made most of the letters written by this pioneering painter accessible to a large audience.


Vincent van Gogh was a complex personality with wide-ranging ideas, so that anyone seeking to become acquainted with him must delve into his letters – and read and reread them. This is why ‘Van Gogh the letter-writer’ is the focal point of this book. There is no better way to approach the artist than by examining his letters, scrutinizing both their meaning and their appearance down to the last detail.
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1. Letter to Theo, detail, The Hague, 31 July 1882 (252). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam




Exceptional letters


It is a comforting thought that the perishable letters of a great nineteenth-century artist should have withstood the ravages of time, although this is not exceptional: letters have also survived from such contemporaries and friends of Van Gogh as Paul Gauguin, Camille and Lucien Pissarro, and Henri de Toulouse-Lautrec. Their letters are interesting because of the light they shed on their circumstances and artistic ambitions, but they do not have the fascinating quality of Van Gogh's letters. What is it that explains the magic of Van Gogh the letter-writer?


Such questions never have simple answers. To begin with, Van Gogh's life story is clearly unique. The letters, which bear first-hand witness to his life, necessarily tell an autobiographical story: a dozen occupations and even more failures during his wanderings through the Netherlands, England, Belgium and France; the religious zeal and imitatio Christi that obsessed him for several years; the realization of his artistic calling at the age of twenty-seven; the fight to master pen and brush while alienating himself from everyone around him; the astonishing artistic metamorphosis he experienced in Paris; and, finally, the periods of mental instability and depression that plagued him during the years preceding his suicide.


Van Gogh, moreover, was a born writer. He may have struggled to learn to draw and paint, but he had an innate talent for writing. A great many of his letters are about art – his own and that of others – yet he also thought deeply about metaphysical and ethical issues and reflected at length on human behaviour and social developments. He wrote about such subjects in an infectious way, immediately drawing his readers into the world of his life and thought. He used the evocative and direct language of a strong personality. He often felt, rightly or wrongly, that he was undervalued and badly treated. Virtually every reader can recognize these sentiments, as well as such recurrent themes as a lack of money, loneliness and the need for love. It may seem paradoxical, but Van Gogh's extremely personal correspondence rises above the individual to achieve the universality of great literature.


The original letters, then, bring the writer very close to us, as we see not only how his handwriting changed over the years but also how it could vary within a single letter. At times we witness Van Gogh's violent mood swings, betrayed by the words and lines he added – or crossed out – as well as by underlinings and emphasis in the writing. And nothing is more symbolic of the artist's voice than the many beautiful sketches he made to show the recipients of his letters what he was working on.
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2. The first letter written by Vincent to Theo, The Hague, 29 September 1872 (1). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam. The upper left-hand corner is torn off, but the salutation must have been ‘my dear Theo’ (‘Waarde Theo’).




The early years


‘My dear Theo’: these are the simple, familiar words with which Vincent van Gogh's correspondence began in September 1872 (2). Hundreds of letters were to follow, in which Vincent confided in his brother Theo, sharing his experiences and reporting what he had seen or read. As the youngest trainee of the internationally active French art dealer Goupil, Vincent spent four years at the branch in The Hague, followed by some three years alternating between London and Paris (3). Works of art formed part of his everyday environment, and he was also an ardent visitor to museums. In July 1873 he wrote from London: ‘English art didn't appeal to me much at first, one has to get used to it. There are some good painters here, though, including Millais, who made “The Huguenot”, Ophelia, &c., engravings of which you probably know, they're very beautiful. Then Boughton, of whom you know the “Puritans going to church” in our Galerie photographique. I've seen very beautiful things by him. Moreover, among the old painters, Constable, a landscape painter who lived around 30 years ago, whose work is splendid, something like Diaz and Daubigny. And Reynolds and Gainsborough, who mostly painted very, very beautiful portraits of women, and then Turner, after whom you'll probably have seen engravings. Several good French painters live here, including Tissot, after whom there are various photos in our Galerie photographique, Otto Weber and Heilbuth. The latter is currently making dazzlingly beautiful paintings in the style of the one by Linder.’ Another letter contains a long list of painters he particularly liked (4).


An avid reader, Van Gogh was equally enthusiastic about literature. Impressions of books he had read, advice to Theo on what to read and poems copied out of books all appear time and again in his letters. He cannot refrain from urging Theo to read the same things that he reads, writing in August 1874: ‘Buy Alphonse Karr's “Voyage autour de mon jardin” with the money I gave you. Be sure to do so, I want you to read it.’


At times his eagerness is accompanied by fatherly exhortations to his younger brother, and this characterizes the roles they assumed in their early years: ‘You must in any case go to the museum often, it's good to be acquainted with the old painters, too, and if you get the chance read about art, and especially magazines about art, the Gazette des Beaux-Arts &c. When there's an opportunity I'll send you a book by Bürger about the museums of The Hague and Amsterdam; when you've finished it there will be an opportunity to send it back to me.’


 


[image: illustratie]


3. Portrait photograph of Vincent van Gogh, c. 1873. Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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4. Letter to Theo, London, January 1874 (17). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam






 


It was also at this period that he wrote of his profound love of nature and landscape, as he spent hours taking long walks outside the city. He had to manage this in London as best he could: ‘I walk here as much as I can, but I'm very busy. It's absolutely beautiful here (even though it's in the city). There are lilacs and hawthorns and laburnums &c. blossoming in all the gardens, and the chestnut trees are magnificent. If one truly loves nature one finds beauty everywhere. Yet I sometimes yearn so much for Holland, and especially Helvoirt.’


Thus the letters of the young Van Gogh paint a picture of his intellectual self-education, and the way he used art and literature both to discover and to define himself – and it is essential to know this if we are to understand him later as an artist.


When Theo started work at Goupil's three years after Vincent, the devoted brothers became true companions in arms. They had the same interests, but we are unsure of Theo's part in the exchange of correspondence; almost none of the letters he wrote to his brother before 1888 have survived. Truly intimate subjects, such as ‘the question of women’ (how young men should behave towards the female sex, and what they expected of marriage and their future wives), were too sensitive to commit to paper; at most they were touched upon briefly and subsequently discussed in private when they met at their parents' house, as they often did at Christmas. In October 1876 Vincent wrote: ‘It will surely be winter soon, how fortunate that Christmas is in the winter, that's why I like winter better than any other season, Christmas and New Year's Eve are even better than the autumn. How wonderful it will be to sail down the Thames and across the sea, and then those friendly Dutch dunes and that small tower that one already sees from a great distance. How little we see of each other, old boy, and how little we see of our parents.’ That nostalgia for the warmth of home is expressed again and again in Vincent's early letters and it returned later on, in the form of undisguised childhood recollections, when he attempted to work from memory in the south of France (5).
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5. Vincent van Gogh, Garden at Etten, 1888. Hermitage, Saint Petersburg








Hard times


‘There is quiet melancholy, certainly, thank God, but I don't know if we're allowed to feel it yet, you see I say we, I no more than you. Pa wrote to me recently, “Melancholy does not hurt, but makes us see things with a holier eye.” That is true “quiet melancholy”, fine gold, but we aren't that far yet, not by a long way. Let us hope and pray that we may come so far.’ In 1874-75 the tone of his letters became increasingly gloomy, marking the prelude to the religious period of the twenty-year-old Van Gogh, who was dismissed from his job at Goupil's in the spring of 1876. While he investigated a variety of possibilities in his search for some form of employment – going from bookseller's employee to assistant teacher to evangelist – biblical allusions and quotations became more and more frequent in his letters. The words ‘sorrowful, yet alway rejoicing’, from the second epistle of St Paul to the Corinthians, became his personal motto, occurring in his letters in both Dutch and English (6). The same shift can be seen in his reading, and he became more enthusiastic than ever about the religious paintings of Ary Scheffer, particularly Christus consolator (7), prints of which he acquired to hang in his room and to present as gifts to members of his family.
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6. Personal motto in a letter to Theo, Dordrecht, 26 February 1877 (103). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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7. Ary Scheffer, Christus consolator, 1837. Amsterdams Historisch Museum, Amsterdam






 


Van Gogh's father, himself a minister, thought his son's religious zeal excessive, and one of his sisters called him ‘a compulsive churchgoer’. Vincent peppered his letters with passages from the Bible, prayer books and hymnals. ‘Do you ever go to the Lord's Supper? They that be whole need not a physician, but they that are sick. [...] Don't be afraid, when you're out walking in the evening and there's no one near by, to sing a psalm: “The panting hart, the hunt escapèd”, or “O why art thou cast down, my soul?” or “Centre of our longing” or “I know in Whom my faith is founded”. The years between 20 and 30 are full of all sorts of dangers, full of great danger, yea, the danger of sin and death, but also full of light and God's comfort. Wrestling, you will emerge victorious, and when they're over you'll think back on them with nostalgia and say, it was a good time after all.’


His religious fanaticism caused Van Gogh to drift further and further away from his friends and family. The distance between them became physical as well as emotional when Vincent moved at the end of 1878 to the Borinage, a poor mining district in Belgium where he lived in abject poverty. The handful of reluctant letters from that period speak volumes: Vincent, who felt that his family had abandoned him and that he had no prospects, reached an impasse. In the meantime, he had turned his back on everything even remotely connected with ‘official’ religion or the church. Worse still, he had become estranged from Theo. A low ebb in their relations is documented in the opening of a long letter that Vincent wrote to Theo in the early summer of 1880, when he was struggling to escape his hopeless situation in the Borinage: ‘My dear Theo, It's with some reluctance that I write to you, not having done so for so long, and that for many a reason. Up to a certain point you've become a stranger to me, and I too am one to you, perhaps more than you think; perhaps it would be better for us not to go on this way. It's possible that I wouldn't even have written to you now if it weren't that I'm under the obligation, the necessity, of writing to you. If, I say, you yourself hadn't imposed that necessity. I learned at Etten that you had sent fifty francs for me; well, I accepted them. Certainly reluctantly, certainly with a rather melancholy feeling, but I'm in some sort of impasse or mess; what else can one do? And so it's to thank you for it that I'm writing to you. As you may perhaps know, I'm back in the Borinage; my father spoke to me of staying in the vicinity of Etten instead; I said no, and I believe I acted thus for the best. Without wishing to, I've more or less become some sort of impossible and suspect character in the family, in any event, somebody who isn't trusted, so how, then, could I be useful to anybody in any way? That's why, first of all, so I'm inclined to believe, it is beneficial and the best and most reasonable position to take, for me to go away and to remain at a proper distance, as if I didn't exist.’ Later he referred to this dark period as ‘a few years which I find hard to understand myself, when I was confused by religious ideas – by a sort of mysticism’.


All the same, letter-writing took on a new meaning in this period, possibly for the very reason that he was struggling with himself and with the traditions in which he had been brought up. When everything was going well for him, his letters were little more than a means of communication, a way of exchanging news and ideas. From 1877 onwards, however, it became obvious that he was equally motivated by the urge to formulate and develop his own notions and thoughts, and that writing had become an end in itself. Before this time his letters had been relatively short, but now they became considerably longer, and he adopted a much more characteristic, more didactic style. The letters, in short, became an integral part of Van Gogh's quest.
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8. Jules Breton, Women gleaning, 1868. The Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York, Bequest of Collis P. Huntington
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9. Anton Mauve, Fishing boot on the beach, 1882. Gemeentemuseum, The Hague








The emerging artist


The crisis years ended in the summer of 1880, when Van Gogh emerged rather suddenly from his cocoon of uncertainty and despair. At Theo's suggestion Vincent resolved to become a draughtsman or illustrator, hopingto work for illustrated magazines, which were increasing dramatically in number and popularity. From this time on, the letters represent the written complement to his artistic career.


For a long time Van Gogh followed in the artistic footsteps of Jean-François Millet and Jules Breton, who had portrayed poor, humble French peasants in an idealized way (8). One utterance (of many) says enough: ‘Millet is: père Millet, that is, counsellor and guide in everything, for the younger painters.’ From the artists of the Hague School Van Gogh derived the sobriety of the landscape and a greyish, rather sombre palette. It was Anton Mauve, a leading exponent of this movement, who taught Van Gogh the rudiments of painting (9).


Because of Theo's financial support, Vincent felt obliged to make regular progress reports, and he was also eager to hear his brother's opinion. He pursued his self-education as an artist in the way he had always done everything – uninterruptedly and with a passion sometimes bordering on obsession. ‘At the moment I have no fewer than 7 or 8 drawings measuring about 1 metre that I'm working on, so you can imagine that I'm up to my ears in work. But I'm very hopeful that I can make my hand more skilled through this period of toil. Thus, for instance, the reluctance I felt to work with charcoal is disappearing day by day. One of the reasons is that I've found a way of fixing the charcoal and then going over it with something else, such as printer's ink. Here's a scratch of potato grubbers, but they're slightly further apart in the drawing.’ This is followed by a little sketch of the drawing in question (10).
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10. Sketch in a letter to Theo, The Hague, c. 27 June 1883 (357). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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11. Vincent van Gogh, Head of a woman, 1882-83. Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam






 


Making an all-out effort was not enough for Van Gogh. Each and every letter from the early 1880s testifies to his single-minded enthusiasm and his total immersion in art: his own work as well as the paintings, drawings and prints of others. He practised incessantly with pencil and brush, ‘barely taking the time even to eat or drink,’ and he walked for miles through the surrounding countryside, in search of landscapes and characteristic figures to depict (12). He soon wanted to work in colour, and he discussed the saleability of his work with Theo: ‘Do not, above all, suspect me of indifference as regards earning; I fully intend to take the shortest route to that end. Provided they are genuine and lasting earnings, of which I only see a prospect in my case if something truly good comes into my work, and not through working solely on saleability – which one pays for later but through honest study of nature. [...] But if you were to say: work on those views of woods or landscapes or seascapes, then that needn't get in the way of larger and more serious things, and I would have nothing against that. It's just that I would have to know that they were worth the brushes, the paint, the canvas, and that making a lot of them wasn't a waste of money, but that the costs could be recouped.’


Theo had meanwhile been appointed to the influential position of manager of Goupil's Paris branch, and Vincent hoped that this would provide a means to create interest in his own work. However, it was a long time – too long, in Vincent's opinion – before Theo found his work good enough to promote. The brothers experienced several discordant interludes, especially in 1882, when Vincent decided to live with the prostitute Sien Hoornik (11) – an episode in which he finally enjoyed some measure of domestic comfort – and again when he tried to persuade his brother to give up his reputable position in Paris to become a painter like himself. Vincent refused to consider the obvious financial drawbacks, and brushed aside Theo's doubts as to whether he had enough talent: ‘In my view it would be an error of judgement if you were to continue in business in Paris. So the conclusion, two brothers, painters. Whether it's in your nature? You could occupy yourself struggling hard and fruitlessly against nature precisely by doubting whether you can, and thus hamper your own liberation. Sadly, I know that all too well in my own case.’ Needless to say, Vincent's plan lacked all sense of reality. This episode was one of the most telling as regards Van Gogh's single-mindedness and egocentricity – for these, too, were strong character traits of his, which were to lead to many conflicts.
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12. Letter to Theo, Drenthe, 28 October 1883 (400). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam




The French years


Van Gogh's so-called Dutch years, which can be considered his period of training, came to an end in late 1885, when he moved to Paris after a short stay in Antwerp. As soon as he moved in with his brother in March 1886, the need to write instantly disappeared. This explains the scarcity of letters from 1886-87 – a great pity, since it was at this time that he underwent his decisive artistic transformation. In the Louvre he looked carefully at the work of Eugène Delacroix, whose theory of colour he had already studied in artists' manuals in the Netherlands and whose Christ on the Sea of Galilee he had described as ‘brilliant’ (13). Van Gogh got to know the Parisian avantgarde and made friends who included Emile Bernard, Paul Signacand Henri de Toulouse-Lautrec (14). He joined their ranks and managed to make fundamental changes to his palette. Unfortunately, much of his life in those crucial years remains veiled in mystery.
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13. Eugène Delacroix, Christ on the Sea of Galilee, 1853. The Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York, H.O. Havemeyer Collection
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14. Henri de Toulouse-Lautrec, Portrait of Vincent van Gogh, 1887. Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam






 


It was not until the spring of 1888, when he travelled to Arles in the south of France, that the correspondence regained its former intensity. The letters from this period show that Van Gogh had matured in many ways. Although still an inveterate seeker, he had become artistically more adult and self-assured. Moreover, his relations with Theo were on a more equal footing, the earlier tensions having given way to mutual understanding and solidarity.


The essence of Vincent's artistic programme can be summarized in two words: colour and portraiture – although in fact he mainly painted landscapes during his time in Arles: ‘I want to do figures, figures and more figures, it's stronger than me, this series of bipeds from the baby to Socrates and from the black-haired woman with white skin to the woman with yellow hair and a sunburnt face the colour of brick. Meanwhile, I mostly do other things.’


He was also preoccupied with the renewal of art and the possibilities for collaboration between artists. The mounting tension and strained expectations as the time approached when Gauguin would move into the Yellow House (15, 16), the great effort Van Gogh made to furnish the house and decorate it with a series of paintings in readiness for the great master – all this is vividly recounted in the letters (17). Gauguin, who arrived in Arles at the end of October 1888, left town after only two months, following a violent outburst: their temperaments were psychologically and artistically incompatible (18).


This ushered in a period of disappointment when Van Gogh was plagued by episodes of mental instability. At first he went several times for treatment to the local hospital, but in May 1889 he had himself admitted voluntarily to the psychiatric clinic at nearby Saint-Rémy. The tone of the letters now becomes more sombre: Van Gogh was losing his old resilience and viewed his efforts at painting as insignificant, despite the fact that he had begun to make a name for himself among both artists and art critics. In March 1889 he wrote to his brother: ‘Sometimes nameless moral anguish, then moments when the veil of time and of the inevitability of circumstances seemed to open up a little way for the space of a blink of an eye. Certainly, you're right after all, darned right – even allowing for hope, one probably has to accept the rather distressing reality.’ Ten months and several breakdowns later, he wrote: ‘Anyway, this is certain, it's not a matter of putting on a proud front or having great hopes for what comes next. Let's take the terrible realities as they are, and if I have to abandon painting I think I shall.’ Reading the letters from this last period is an experience at once moving and heart-rending, because we witness in painful proximity the alternating depressions and flickerings of hope. It is all the more distressing because we know how the story ends: Van Gogh's return to the countryside near Paris failed to heal his mind; on 27 July 1890 he shot himself in the chest in the fields of Auvers-sur-Oise and died two days later, with Theo at his side.
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15. Vincent van Gogh, The Yellow House, 1888. Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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16. Paul Gauguin, Self-portrait with portrait of Bernard, ‘Les misérables’, 1888. Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam


 


[image: illustratie]


17. Sketch in a letter to Theo, Arles, 1 May 1888 (602). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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18. Paul Gauguin, Portrait of Van Gogh painting sunflowers, 1888. Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam








The correspondents


Since Theo (19) was for years Vincent's great confidant, and most of the surviving letters are addressed to him, it is easy to get the impression that Van Gogh never wrote to anyone else and that he himself never received any letters. Nothing could be further from the truth. The list of extant letters includes some 820 letters written by Van Gogh, of which approximately 650 are addressed to Theo (see p. 81). Thus there are roughly 170 known letters written to others. These cast Van Gogh in roles other than that of brother, and they show that he geared not only his tone and style but also his frame of reference (examples and comparisons, for instance) to the recipients of his letters. If we confine ourselves to his years as an artist – the decade from 1880 to 1890 – three correspondents merit special mention.


The letters written to Anthon van Rappard (1858-1892) during the period 1881-85 contain a splendid sampling of the artistic notions Van Gogh entertained during his years of training and of the artistic obstacles he sought to overcome. Van Rappard was a young Dutch painter who met Van Gogh in the autumn of 1880 in the artistic circle surrounding the art academy at Brussels, just when Van Gogh had decided to attempt a career in art (20). Theo was probably responsible for bringing the two together. For the next five years Van Rappard would be the only artist friend with whom Van Gogh could continually exchange ideas about the profession of painting, especially its technical aspects. The two friends had only just set out on their respective paths, but Van Rappard had a much more academic orientation than the individualistic Van Gogh, and this led to fascinating and at times vehement discussions in their letters. ‘I won't go into generalities about technique, but I do foresee that, precisely when I become stronger in what I'll call power of expression than I am at this moment, people will say, not less but in fact even more than now, that I have no technique. Consequently – I'm in complete agreement with you that I must say even more forcibly what I'm saying in my present work – and I'm toiling away to strengthen myself in this respect – but – that the general public will understand it better then – no. [...] One must therefore work on technique in so far as one must say what one feels better, more accurately, more profoundly, but – with the less verbiage the better. But the rest – one needn't occupy oneself with it.’ Van Gogh and Van Rappard shared a passion for the prints they found in illustrated magazines; they regularly sent each other rolls containing prints, and made lists of what they had bought (21). Their letters show Van Gogh as both enthusiastic and tiresome, and one is hardly surprised to read that Van Rappard called him a ‘zealot’. Their correspondence ended shortly after Van Rappard said of Van Gogh's masterpiece The potato eaters that it was ‘superficial’ and ‘cavalier’ and ‘not intended seriously’ (22).
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19. Portrait photograph of Theo van Gogh, 1888. Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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20. Portrait photograph of Anthon van Rappard, c. 1880. Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam


 


[image: illustratie]


21. List of prints in a letter to Anthon van Rappard, The Hague, c. 18 January 1883 (302). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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22. Vincent van Gogh, The potato eaters, 1885. Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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23. Emile Bernard, Self-portrait with portrait of Gauguin, 1887. Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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24. Emile Bernard, Still life: The blue coffee pot, 1887. Kunsthalle, Bremen






 


The letters written to Emile Bernard (1868-1941) in the period 1886-89, are – like the letters to Van Rappard – a typical artists' correspondence (23), in which Van Gogh, having meanwhile become more mature and chastened, constantly aired his ideas about art, literature and life, clearly with the intention of keeping Bernard – a fiercely ambitious painter-poet who was fifteen years his junior – on the right path. To this end, Van Gogh wrote to him in a deliberately casual tone, occasionally using strong language encountered nowhere else in his letters. After expounding upon the importance of sound nutrition, he went on to say: ‘And now you'll perhaps tell me that I'm bloody well getting on your nerves with all that. That you want to go to the brothel, and that you don't give a damn about all the rest. My word, that depends, but I can't say other than that. Art is long and life is short, and we must wait patiently while tryingto sell our skin dearly. [...] in order to do good work you have to eat well, be well housed, have a screw from time to time, smoke your pipe and drink your coffee in peace.’


Van Gogh believed in Bernard's talent and spoke very highly of one of his still lifes, which he actually imitated to some extent (24, 25). Fortunately, Bernard had a mind of his own. He evidently had no qualms about contradicting Van Gogh, goading him all the more into making pedantic observations. A particular aspect of Van Gogh's letters to Emile Bernard – 22 are known, the last of which dates from 1889 – is that they frequently discuss the sacrifices an artist must make to allow his art to reach maturity: he is bound to be solitary and misunderstood by society and has to subordinate his love life to his creativity; putting every bit of his energy into his art, he wears himself down both mentally and physically. If the picture of the romantic artist is confirmed anywhere, it is in these letters.


Van Rappard and Bernard were fellow painters. By contrast, the letters Vincent wrote to his sister Willemien (1862-1941), who was nine years younger, are more everyday and intimate in tone (26). In the 21 extant letters from the years 1887-90, he seems to want to prepare her for ‘real’ life. His own disappointments resound with regularity. Wil, as he called her, had literary aspirations, and Vincent, who was older and wiser, warned her repeatedly of the great sacrifices demanded by art and the isolation to which it could lead. Every letter contains suggested reading, or discusses such things as the essence of modern art. Typically, one of the letter sketches he chose to send her shows his painting Woman reading a novel (61, 62).


Vincent advised Wil to seek refuge in everyday life and to let it be a source of inspiration when writing: ‘And above all I find it a very worrying matter that you believe you have to study in order to write. No, my dear little sister, learn to dance or fall in love with one or more notary's clerks, officers, in short whoever's within your reach; rather, much rather commit any number of follies than study in Holland, it serves absolutely no purpose other than to make someone dull, and so I won't hear of it.’ The letters to Wil also betray the homesickness for Holland that Van Gogh felt in the years after his breakdown, and it is remarkable that he fell back on authors who had engaged his attention earlier, such as Dickens and Shakespeare. The desire for intimacy and security resonating in the letters to Wil says much about Van Gogh's state of mind.
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25. Vincent van Gogh, Still life with coffee pot, 1888. Private collection




Inevitable losses


The Van Goghs were a close-knit family who attached great importance to strong ties of kinship and family and mutual solidarity. From the moment that Vincent went to work at the age of sixteen for an art dealer in The Hague, far away from safe, familiar Zundert, he must have written to his parents at least once a week. Later, when Theo followed in his footsteps and their sisters went to boarding schools or became lady-companions, the family wrote a great many letters, frequently containing such words of encouragement as ‘do write again soon’ or ‘I'm longing for a letter from you’ – often accompanied by a ‘handshake in thought’. In that period Vincent alone must have written and received hundreds more letters than we now know. The later correspondence and family papers also contain reports of letters sent or received. If every recipient had saved Van Gogh's letters, and if he had not thrown away any of the ones he received, the correspondence might have numbered well over 2,000 letters.


We will never know exactly how many letters have been lost, but we have Vincent's brother Theo to thank for the fact that so many letters by the then unknown artist have survived: Theo, as it happens, seems to have saved almost everything. When he died in January 1891 – only six months after Vincent – his widow, Jo van Gogh-Bonger (27), found in a cupboard around 650 letters that Vincent had written to Theo between September 1872 and July 1890. In 1914 she published these letters as Brieven aan zijn broeder (Letters to his brother), complete with a full introduction – a milestone for the biography of Van Gogh. Approximately 95 per cent of Van Gogh's surviving letters are now preserved in the collection of the Van Gogh Museum.


Theo was, in fact, Vincent's only true and lifelong friend. That the brothers' intensive correspondence was a yardstick of their devotion to one another was a fact noticed by Jo when she became Theo's wife: in the fifteen months between their wedding day and Vincent's death, Jo saw more than sixty of the familiar yellow envelopes from Aries, Saint-Rémy and Auvers-sur-Oise land on the doormat of their Paris flat.


It is fascinating to think that in the desk drawers or attics of the descendants of Van Gogh's correspondents there could still be bundles of letters waiting to be discovered. The chance of this is small, however, since Van Gogh has been world-famous for nearly a century and his letters are just as highly valued as his drawings and paintings. We may therefore assume that all those connected in the slightest way with his life, either directly or indirectly, have already undertaken a thorough search of their old papers. Fortunately, though, surprises are always possible: in 2001 an unknown letter unexpectedly came to light that the young Van Gogh had written to a man who played an important role in the literary and artistic education of the Van Gogh brothers: H.G. Tersteeg, the head of Goupil's branch in The Hague. Vincent must have written to him scores of times, but the newly discovered letter is the only one to have survived: the rest, as one of Tersteeg's sons revealed in an interview, were thrown into the stove and burned, along with hundreds of letters from other artists.


We find this incomprehensible now, but in those days most people kept in touch by writing letters, so anyone who participated in social life to any extent soon had hundreds, if not thousands, of sheets of paper to jettison. They can hardly be blamed for clearing out their desks once in a while. Van Gogh himself, who moved house often, did this of necessity. As a result, most of the letters he received from Theo, his parents, Gauguin, Bernard, Van Rappard and others have been lost. That he in fact burned letters emerges from a short passage in a letter to Theo: ‘The letter from Gauguin that I had intended to send you but which for a moment I thought I had burned with some other papers, I later found and enclose herewith.’ In this case Gauguin's letter, which has survived, was unintentionally spared the flames.


It seems natural to think that Theo saved Vincent's letters for posterity because he realized how special they were, yet he also saved a great many letters from his parents, other members of the family, and friends and business contacts: some 2,000 of these have survived and are now part of the collection of the Van Gogh Museum. Sometimes they reveal importantfacts concerning Vincent that cannot be gleaned from his own letters.


Theo, however, was discerning enough to realize that the family letters would not make the most interesting reading for future generations, so he must have kept them out of love or respect for those who penned them. The Van Gogh children had, after all, been brought up with a strong sense of family values, and it was Theo, more than anyone, who had taken that education to heart. This, then, is the main reason for the preservation of so many of Vincent's letters.


All the same, Theo recognized that Vincent's letters were not just a run-of-the-mill correspondence. Around 1887-88, when Vincent was becoming known to a small circle, and critics had started to take an interest in him, Theo occasionally gave them some of Vincent's letters to read in an attempt to acquaint them with his exceptional artistic ideas, thus increasing their understanding of his unusual work.
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26. Portrait photograph of Wil van Gogh, c. 1882. Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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27. Portrait photograph of Jo van Gogh-Bonger and her son Vincent Willem, 1890. Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam




The French language


The people in Paris interested in Van Gogh who were given Vincent's letters to read profited from the fact that since 1888 Vincent had been writing to Theo in French. This also gave Emile Bernard the possibility, after Van Gogh's death, to publish between 1893 and 1897 in the journal Mercure de France a series of instalments containing a wide selection of letter excerpts, an initiative that contributed greatly to the spread of Van Gogh's reputation.


Vincent had acquired French at an early age, since it was spoken by the Dutch upper classes, with whom he came into daily contact in his years at Goupil's in The Hague. Van Gogh had attended secondary school only briefly, but his employer no doubt required him to study French, and he acquired the habit of reading French literature in the original language. Moreover, he had been sent by the firm of Goupil to learn the art trade in Paris – where he stayed for several brief periods, amounting to a year altogether – and he had spent a longtime in Belgium in the French-speaking environment of the Borinage. His stay in Paris in 1886-88 immersed him completely in the French language, while Theo had been living in Paris since 1879 and thus spoke French fluently. For someone like Van Gogh, with a great talent for languages and an eagerness to learn, it was only natural that French gained the upper hand.


It seems rather strange, if not downright puzzling, to think of two Dutch brothers corresponding with each other in French. The explanation was given by Van Gogh himself in a letter to his sister Wil: ‘If you'll let me write to you in French, that will really make my letter easier for me.’ That French had supplanted his mother tongue is also noticeable in several letters written home in that same period – to his mother, for example – in which his Dutch is somewhat stiff and less fluent. In one of the last letters she received from her eldest son, his mother read, for instance: ‘For me life might well remain solitary. I haven't perceived those to whom I've been most attached other than through a glass, darkly. And yet there's a reason why there's sometimes more harmony in my work nowadays. Painting is something in itself. Last year I read somewhere that writing a book or making a painting was the same as having a child. I don't dare claim that for myself, though; I've always thought the latter was the most natural and best thing – only if it were so and if it were the same. That's why I sometimes do my utmost best, even though it's precisely that work that's the least understood, and it's the only tie that links the past and the present for me.’ The clarity of his reasoning has suffered slightly here as a result of Van Gogh's diminished ability to express himself in his mother tongue.




Not a diary


Many people wonder whether Van Gogh's letters shed any light on his suicide or contain any signs that point to his tragic end. Strangely enough, his motives remain a secret, despite his many outpourings. Vincent worked intensely (30-32); he did not write a farewell letter, and Theo could not possibly have sensed that things would turn out as they did when he received the letter in Paris that would prove to be the last, especially since it contained a couple of large letter sketches that, on the contrary, indicated a zest for work (28, see also p. 92-93). We do know, however, that Vincent had financial worries and was concerned about the future – both his own and that of Theo and his young family – because Theo was thinking of setting up as an independent art dealer, a potentially risky undertaking. From letters exchanged between Theo and his wife, Jo van Gogh-Bonger, we know that they found Vincent unduly anxious about it all, but this does not alter the fact that he experienced everything so intensely. Furthermore, he had little hope of recovering from his recurrent mental disturbances. All the same, his dramatic decision came like a bolt from the blue, and we will never be able to fathom his motives completely.



This should warn us not to view the letters as a kind of diary. We read, for example, that he met people and sometimes became friendly with them, but we learn nothing of the circumstances or the background to such acquaintances, except that he met Sien Hoornik in the street (which in this case says more than enough). He was a voracious reader, but we know little of how he acquired the hundreds of books mentioned in his letters, let alone the many hundreds more he must have read but never wrote about. He was constantly suffering from physical ailments, though we only read about them when they entailed great expense or prevented him from working. So we actually know relatively little about his daily life.


His letters were never intended to report events, certainly not in any detail. They were prompted primarily by the self-evident need for human contact and for exchanging ideas and feelings with a kindred spirit. To this end, it is only natural to talk about subjects that are not only close to one's heart but also arouse the interest – or at least the sympathy – of the other party. In the early years, the letters to Theo show that Vincent, who never had a bosom friend, needed his brother as a confidant and sounding-board. What bound them together was essentially their shared youth in the Brabant countryside and the family they came from, and of course art and literature.
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28. Last letter to Theo, Auvers-sur-Oise, 23 July 1890 (902). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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29. Vincent van Gogh, Daubigny's Garden, 1890. Hiroshima Museum of Art, Hiroshima






 


When Vincent finally decided to become an artist, he was financially dependent on Theo, the generous patron, and his letters can then be read as an account of his artistic needs, choices and ideas. One would be going too far to describe the letters as business correspondence (as has sometimes been done), since the old, familiar themes persist. To be sure, receipt of his allowance often triggered a letter, but the content included far more than that, as evidenced by the quotations appearing throughout this book. The relations between the brothers, however, especially during the first years of Vincent's artistic career, were no longer as unconstrained as they had once been.


The letters, then, were often prompted by strategic considerations. This is not to say that the obstinate moralist in Vincent always complied with his patron. He did not hesitate to make frequent attempts to win his brother over to his own, often unrealistic, view of things. Tension arose as soon as something that had always been taken for granted – what ‘modern’ art was, for instance, or what made art ‘saleable’ – was suddenly called into question. And as was only natural, Vincent – while writing – carefully selected what in his view was relevant and appropriate, leaving out facts that did not serve his purpose.
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30. Sketches in letter to Theo, Auvers-sur-Oise, 2 July 1890 (896). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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31. Vincent van Gogh, Couple walking between rows of poplars, 1890. Cincinnati Art Museum
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32. Vincent van Gogh, Wheatfields, 1890. Galerie Belvedere, Vienna


 






An example of this writing strategy is the oft-quoted lyrical passage about a journey that Van Gogh made through the countryside of Drenthe, hitching a ride with a farmer who was driving his horse and cart to the annual fair. Van Gogh described their arrival in a village along the way as follows: ‘The ride into the village was really so beautiful. Huge mossy roofs on houses, barns, sheepfolds, sheds. The dwellings here are very wide, among oak trees of a superb bronze. Tones of golden green in the moss, of reddish or bluish or yellowish dark lilac greys in the soil, tones of inexpressible purity in the green of the little wheatfields. Tones of black in the wet trunks, standing out against golden showers of whirling, swirling autumn leaves, which still hang in loose tufts, as if they were blown there, loosely and with the sky shining through them, on poplars, birches, limes, apple trees. The sky unbroken, clear, illuminating, not white but a lilac that cannot be deciphered, white in which one sees swirling red, blue, yellow, which reflects everything and one feels above one everywhere, which is vaporous and unites with the thin mist below. Brings everything together in a spectrum of delicate greys.’


It has sometimes been said that Van Gogh could have earned his living as a writer, an assertion that seems to be proved bythis passage. In any case, it was not – or, at any rate, not only – the sheer passion of writing that produced this fine prose, nor was it the result of a spontaneous outburst of emotion. Vincent had conceived the absurd idea that Theo should abandon his excellent career to come and paint with him in Drenthe. Together they would have the strength to face the future, as other brothers had done: the painters Emile and Jules Breton, for example, and the writers Edmond and Jules de Goncourt. Vincent would teach Theo the trade; money was of secondary importance. The Drenthe landscape, he said, was just as beautiful as the Paris exhibition One hundred masterpieces, which Theo had apparently described in such glowing terms – but drawing and painting in Drenthe was the more restful of the two (33). Vincent's written portrayal of the idyllic countryside was part of a month-long barrage of patronizing advice, reproaches and fantasies about the future, which must have infuriated the generally patient and accommodating Theo. Even modern-day readers lose their patience now and then at such passages, and end up taking pity on poor Theo, who was sometimes given a good thrashing with the whip of brotherly love.


Thus the letters cannot possibly provide the basis for a detailed account of what Van Gogh actually did every day. They do, however, tell us how he experienced many of the important things in his life. In fact, Van Gogh's letters can be viewed as his most probing self-portrait.
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33. Vincent van Gogh, Landscape with mound of peat and farmhouses, 1883. Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam








Paper and ink


When we speak of Van Gogh's letters we usually think of the volumes in which they have been published, but we can come closer to the story they tell by looking at the originals: more than 1,200 sheets of paper, most of them brittle and slightly yellowed, with tiny handwriting. Examining and reading the original letters close up gives one the sensation of peering over Van Gogh's shoulder and hearing the scratch of his quill pen – a feeling of witnessing, as it were, the intimate scene at the writing desk. The difference in time then seems to melt away, and history suddenly becomes tangible.


Unfortunately, the paper, which was fragile enough to begin with, is endangered by an unexpected foe: the ink with which the letters were written. Van Gogh normally used iron-gall ink, which contains a substance that corrodes paper. Precisely in the places where he used a lot of ink, such as in the sketches, serious damage has occurred, sometimes even causing the loss of text on the back of the sheet (34, 35). Global efforts are being made to develop a technique to halt such corrosion; the results are hopeful, but an effective remedy has yet to be found.


The facsimiles illustrated in this book show that Van Gogh's hand-writing displayed both constants and variables. A comparison of letters written in the mid-1870s (36) with those of more than a decade later (37) reveals a hand that progresses from a somewhat stiff and immature appearance to a more personal and characteristic style – a development seen in most people's handwriting then and now. Its clarity suffered little in the process: once one has become accustomed to it, Van Gogh's writing is easily legible. He paid little heed, however, to the more general conventions of correspondence prevailing in his day. In the early years he wrote the place and date at the top of his letters, but the later ones lack this information, beginning bluntly with such salutations as ‘Mon cher Theo’, ‘Ma chère soeur’ or ‘Mon cher copain Bernard’. He often began immediately after this, on the same line, with what he had to say. One example is a letter to Bernard in which he started, directly after the salutation, by apologizing for his poor handwriting (38). He was also adept at making use of the space available, writing in an extremely compact hand with the lines very close together. Only rarely was there any space left after his signature, and when there was, it was often filled up with a postscript. He did not hesitate to write afterthoughts in the margins, nor did he take pains to spell and punctuate correctly: the need for capitals was often ignored, and letters penned in an emotional state are occasionally made obvious by their unmistakably agitated hand, such as those written in a period of bitter clashes with his father (39).
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34. Recto and verso of a letter to Theo, Nuenen, 9-23 March 1885 (485). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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35. Recto and verso of a letter to Theo, Nuenen, 9-23 March 1885 (485). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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36. Letter to Theo, London, 24 July 1875 (39). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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37. Letter to John Peter Russell, Arles, c. 17 June 1888 (627). The Guggenheim Museum, New York, Thannhauser Collection
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38. Letter to Emile Bernard, c. 19 June 1888 (628). The Morgan Library, New York Thaw Collection
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39. Letter to Theo, Nuenen, c. 7 December 1883 (410). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam


 






In certain letters there is a contrast between their idiosyncratic and unconventional finish and the great care Van Gogh lavished on them: he clearly reread them to make improvements both to the content, by inserting words or sentences, and to the handwriting, by going over letters to make them more legible. Van Gogh seldom made a rough copy; he usually wrote whatever came out of his pen, as he put it. Some letters of which we have another version, finished or not, suggest painstaking preparation. Nevertheless, it seems more likely that these are outdated versions or rejected attempts that he discarded, which were obsolete when the time came to finish and send them.


Rejected texts of a completely different kind are the passages that Van Gogh crossed out. The printed copy does not reveal the handwritten version that preceded the final text; by examining the original letters, one can sometimes decipher interesting or enlightening words or passages that reveal that the crossed-out text was not completely innocent. Sometimes these deletions were the result of Van Gogh's strategic approach to letter-writing, while at othertimes they involved passages that strangers were not supposed to see. An example of the latter is a small sheet with a sketch of his painting Starry night above the Rhône (40, 42). The back contains part of a letter, but the lines have been emphatically crossed out (41). They are addressed to Paul Gauguin and refer to a difference of opinion between Gauguin and Theo on the one hand and Vincent on the other, concerning lowering the prices of certain paintings. After Van Gogh had written this, however, he decided to send the little sketch to his friend Eugène Boch (44), who of course had nothing to do with this personal matter.


Some sheets display obvious differences in the ductus – that is to say, the way the pen is wielded, creating the characteristic rhythm and slope of the handwriting – although the writing remains recognizable as the work of one hand (43). This suggests that Van Gogh put the letter aside and resumed writing later on. We know that he sometimes composed a letter in stages, during breaks from drawing or painting; moreover, a change in ductus can simply be the result of a pause for thought. In a couple of cases we may safely assume that dim lamplight and too much drink combined to produce such erratic handwriting.
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40. Sketch enclosed in a letter to Eugène Boch, Arles, 2 October 1888 (693). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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41. Verso of fig. 40
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42. Vincent van Gogh, Starry night obove the Rhône, 1888. Musée d'Orsay, Paris
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43. Letter to Theo, Arles, 21 or 22 March 1888 (588). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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44. Vincent van Gogh, Portrait of Eugène Boch (‘Le poète’), 1888. Musée d'Orsay, Paris
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45. Sketch in a letter from Paul Gauguin to Vincent van Gogh, Le Pouldu, c. 10-13 November 1889 (817). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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46. Letter from Edouard Manet to Isabelle Lemonnier, Bellevue, 20 October 1880. Musée d'Orsay, Paris








Letter sketches


An attractive feature of Van Gogh's letters, and one that adds immensely to their art-historical value, is their frequent embellishment with a small drawing or the inclusion of a loose-leaf sketch, which he referred to as ‘krabbeltjes’ (scratches) or ‘croquis’ (sketches). Van Gogh, incidentally, was not the only one to do this. Many writers and artists have made – and continue to make – drawings in letters, to the extent that this activity can be considered an epistolary sub-genre. There are detailed and colourful letter sketches by the hand of Paul Signac, Stéphane Mallarmé, Paul Verlaine, Henri de Toulouse-Lautrec and Paul Gaugu in (45), to name but a few of Van Gogh's contemporaries. Letter sketches existed in all shapes and sizes, and they served a wide variety of purposes.


Van Gogh was rarely interested in illustrating a letter merely for the fun of it. He was not light-hearted enough for that, and he had no need to be charming – something that gave rise, for example, to the great number of beautiful drawings in the letters of Edouard Manet (46). For Van Gogh the sketches had but one goal: to make clear to Theo or other correspondents what a particular painting looked like, either a finished one or a work in progress. At the beginning of his artistic career, he also needed to prove to Theo that he was progressing. In Etten he once wrote a letter containing twelve sketches, some of them in colour (48). They were intended to convince Theo of his commitment and to show him his depictions of the peasants and labourers he idolized.
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47. Letter to Theo, The Hague, 18 March 1883 (329). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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48. Letter to Theo, Etten, mid-September 1881 (172). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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49. Sketch in a letter to Theo, Arles, c. 13 April 1888 (597). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam






 


The value of the sketches lies in the fact that they forced Van Gogh to convey the essence of a drawing or painting. Usually drawn with ordinary writing ink, they were sometimes supplied with colour indications, which we can compare with the painting, as in the case of the enchanting Blossoming pear tree (49, 50). A couple of the sketches even supplement his known oeuvre, because they represent an earlier version of an existing work or the only image of a lost work. In the letter to Eugène Boch mentioned above, for example, there is a sketch Van Gogh made afteran unknown painting of the park in front of the Yellow House (51).


The letter sketches display a clear development in style, which derives directly from the astonishingly fast development of Van Gogh's ‘draughtsman's fist’, as he himself called it. The early sketches are rather dark and densely worked, whereas the later ones are much lighter and airier. Although sometimes quite small, they steadily gain in diversity of expressive means and look less heavy than those dating from the first years. Gradually Van Gogh became so sure of his draughtsmanship that he occasionally used the letter sketches – and rightly so – to show what he was capable of, as in the letter to Emile Bernard in which he recounts an excursion to Les Saintes-Maries-de-la-Mer on the Mediterranean coast (52, 53).


Finally, there are a couple of dozen sketches that are very useful for understanding Van Gogh's working methods. The drawn view of his studio, for example, shows us how he experimented with the angle of light, using shutters he had made specially for this purpose (55). No less instructive is his explanation of the perspective frame he had made to help him in the correct rendering of depth and proportions (54); indeed, his drawings and paintings frequently bear traces of its application. One of the most important tools of the painter, his palette, was also illustrated for Theo (56), as were the brushes Vincent asked him to order (57).




 


[image: illustratie]


50. Vincent van Gogh, Blossoming pear tree, 1888. Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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51. Sketch in a letter to Eugène Boch, Arles, 2 October 1888 (693). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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52. Sketch in a letter to Emile Bernard, Arles, c. 7 June 1888 (622) The Morgan Library, New York, Thaw Collection
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53. Vincent van Gogh, Street in Les Saintes-Maries-de-la-Mer, 1888. Private collection
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54. Letter to Theo, The Hague, 5 August 1882 (253). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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55. Sketch in a letter to Theo, The Hague, 20 or 21 February 1883 (318). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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56. Sketch in a letter to Theo, The Hague, 5 August 1882 (253). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam








 


[image: illustratie]


57. Sketch in a letter to Theo, Saint-Rémy, c. 31 May-c. 6 June 1889 (777). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam








Letters and art


The richness of the letters should not make us lose sight of the fact that Van Gogh's stature is primarily due to his fundamental importance for the art of modern times. It is therefore vital to ask what the letters contribute to our understanding of Van Gogh's drawings and paintings.


The answer is: everything. In every phase of his career as an artist – except, alas, the years in Paris – the letters treat in detail, from both the personal and the artistic viewpoint, Van Gogh's ambitions and the difficulties he encountered. Had he been educated at an academy, our knowledge of the training painters generally received in the nineteenth century would already give us some idea of the traditions informing his art and the skills he would have been taught. However, Van Gogh was self-taught, and unorthodox at that. In 1885, when visiting the important museums in Amsterdam, including the recently opened Rijksmuseum, he looked for the first time with an artist's eye at such great painters as Frans Hals and Rembrandt, and made the liberating discovery that they, too, often used very loose brushstrokes. ‘Let people prattle on about technique as they will, with hollow, hypocritical, Pharisee words – the true painters – allow themselves to be guided by that conscience that's called sentiment; their soul, their brains aren't led by the brush, but the brush is led by their brains. Moreover it's the canvas that's afraid of a true painter, and not the painter who's afraid of the canvas.’ He derided ‘custom’, ‘tradition’ and ‘practice’, seeking in his own way a suitable working method and the means to achieve what he envisioned on paper or canvas.


This does not mean that the finished result always shows how a certain work of art came about or what Van Gogh had hoped to express, so we are fortunate to have the letters, which provide important information about his technique and supply clues to the interpretation of his work. Of course, in his correspondence he commented on only some of the more than 2,000 works of art we know by his hand, but his comments afford a foothold for closer study of those works. They show clearly that Van Gogh, from the beginning to the end of his artistic career, sought to imbue his work with a message. As a budding artist he wrote, ‘I want to make drawings that move some people.’; in 1889 he described what he was striving to produce: ‘a consolatory art for distressed hearts’. He aimed at moving the viewer while demonstrating something essential about human existence, offering consolation forthe inadequacies of life. In the Dutch years he did this in the tradition of Millet and Jozef Israëls, by rendering an image that betrays a certain sentiment – a literary approach, as he said himself. With regard to what he intended to portray in The potato eaters (22), he wrote: ‘You see, I really have wanted to make it so that people get the idea that these folk, who are eatingtheir potatoes by the light of their little lamp, have tilled the earth themselves with these hands they are putting in the dish, and so it speaks of manual labour and – that they have thus honestly earned their food. I wanted it to give the idea of a wholly different way of life from ours – civilized people.’
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58. Sketch enclosed in a letter to Theo, Arles, 16 October ,888 (705). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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59. Vincent van Gogh, The bedroom, 1888. Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
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60. Vincent van Gogh, The night café, 1888. Yale University Art Gallery, New Haven






 


After his artistic transformation in Paris, he understood that he could express something not only with the image depicted, with the anecdotal element of the picture, but also with the pictorial means, such as colour and brushwork. How he thought this worked is revealed in a letter in which he describes the underlying idea behind The bedroom (59) (with which he sought to express ‘utter repose’) and The night café (60). Writing about the latter painting to Theo, Vincent said: ‘In my painting of the night café I've tried to express the idea that the café is a place where you can ruin yourself, go mad, commit crimes. Anyway, I tried with contrasts of delicate pink and blood-red and wine-red. Soft Louis XV and Veronese green contrasting with yellow greens and hard blue greens. All of that in an ambience of a hellish furnace, in pale sulphur. To express something of the power of the dark corners of a grog-shop.’


We are also particularly indebted to the letters for clarifying the handful of Arles paintings that seem so out of place in his work because of the flat and schematic impression that they make, such as Garden at Etten (5) and Woman reading a novel (61). The explanation is that he had let himself be challenged by Gauguin into working from memory instead of from life, using his imagination instead of working from nature.




Van Gogh's fame


Would Van Gogh have become as famous as he is if we did not have those splendid letters that elucidate his exceptional life and the world behind his works? That question is both provocative and complex. We cannot turn back the clock, but we may assume that without the letters his fame would have taken on a different character. Even so, we can confirm that the dissemination of Van Gogh's work and his letters have more or less kept pace with one another, making them nearly inseparable from the historical viewpoint. Just as his letters and his work are bound together in our minds, likewise our appreciation of him tends to combine the man and the artist. This was never his intention, for he hoped to speak through his drawings and paintings alone.


Furthermore, it was never Van Gogh's aim to have his letters published, though some would have us believe otherwise. He did in fact save Bernard's letters, about which he wrote to Theo in September 1888: ‘they're sometimes really interesting; you'll read them some day or other; they already make quite a bundle.’ He also advised his brother to save letters from artists, referring to artists’ letters in the true sense of the word, that is to say, an exchange of artistic ideas. It is possible that to some extent he saw his own correspondence with Gauguin and Bernard in this light, and he knew that his friends sometimes let each other read his letters. He was, moreover, an avid reader of biographies and artists' autobiographical writing, then an up-and-coming genre. For his part, however, Van Gogh never aspired to publish his letters and always shunned public attention – even when it was directed towards his paintings.
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61. Vincent van Gogh, Woman reading a novel, 1888. Private collection
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62. Sketch in a letter to Wil van Gogh, Arles, c. 12 November 1888 (720). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam


 






Does this mean that we are being indiscreet if we nose around in Van Gogh's private correspondence, if we publish it in dozens of languages for a global market consisting of hundreds of thousands of readers? In one sense: yes. His letters were not intended for us – only for Theo, a few other members of the family and some friends. His sister Lies was not happy when, in 1914, her sister-in-law Jo van Gogh-Bonger presented the world with the letters Vincent had written to Theo. Over the years, however, Van Gogh has grown into a larger-than-life personality. Though he thought he would play no more than a secondary role in the future of art, for more than a hundred years now he has been an icon, a role model – and not only for artists. The idealism and determination permeating his letters are an inspiration to every reader. He is to many of us what his own heroes – Rembrandt, Millet and Delacroix – were to him. Indeed, this knowledge might have reconciled him to the fact that his letters, and not just his art, are now known throughout the world.




The letters of Van Gogh: a few statistics


 


Total number of extant letters: 902


In Dutch: 585


In French: 310


In English: 6


Letters written by Van Gogh: 819


Letters written to Van Gogh: 83


 


Present whereabouts:


Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam: c. 845


The Morgan Library, New York: 20


Other museums and public archives: 10


Private collections: c. 25


 


Characteristics:


Number of sheets: c. 1200


Number of pages: c. 3800 (an average of 4.2 pages per letter)


Shortest letter: 1 page


Longest letter: 16 pages


Usual length: 1 sheet comprising 4 pages (390 letters)


Letters containing sketches: 140


Total number of sketches: 220


 


Number of extant letters written by Vincent van Gogh to:


• Theo: 658


• Anthon van Rappard: 57


• Emile Bernard: 22


• Paul Gauguin: 4


• Wil van Gogh: 21


 


The other surviving letters by Van Gogh are addressed to:


• Charles Angrand, a French painter Van Gogh met in Paris


• Albert Aurier, art critic


• Eugène Boch, a Belgian painter Van Gogh met in Arles


• Egbert Borchers, an acquaintance from The Hague


• H.J. Furnée, seller of artists' supplies in The Hague


• P. Furnée, surveyor (son of H.J. Furnée), pupil of Van Gogh


• M. and Mme Ginoux, proprietors of the Café de la Gare in Arles


• The Van Gogh family: parents, his sister Anna, his Uncle Cor


• Caroline (& Willem van Stockum-) Haanebeek, acquaintances from The Hague


• J. van Hombergh, mayor of Nuenen


• J.J. Isaacson, Dutch art critic and correspondent in Paris


• Anton Kerssemakers, acquaintance from Eindhoven, pupil of Van Gogh


• A.H. Koning, Dutch art critic and an acquaintance of Theo


• Horace Mann Livens, English painter, with whom Van Gogh associated in Antwerp


• John Peter Russell, an Australian artist Van Gogh met in Paris


• Paul Signac, French painter


• H.G. Tersteeg (& family), Van Gogh's boss at Goupil's in The Hague


• M.A. de Zwart, Van Gogh's landlord in The Hague
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63. Letter to Theo, Etten, c. 12 October 1881 (173). Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam


 



 

My dear Rappard,




 


I1 just received ‘Gavarni, l'homme & l'oeuure’, accept my thanks for returning it. In my opinion, Gavarni is a very great artist, and certainly very interesting as a human being as well. Without doubt, at times he did things that weren't good, his behaviour towards Thackeray & Dickens, to name but a few, but there are such things in all characters.


And he, too, seems to have regretted it, because later he sent drawings to those people whom he had once treated with insufficient cordiality. And Thackeray himself adopted a similar attitude towards Balzac, and went even further I believe, but that doesn't alter the fact that at bottom those men were kindred spirits, even though this wasn't always clear to them.


When I received the book this morning, I thought ‘now he certainly won't come himself, otherwise he'd have kept it until he came’. I don't need to assure you once more that all of us here would very much like to see you again, and hope so much that, even if you don't come for long, you won't stay away entirely.


I'm very eager to hear about your plans for the winter. Supposing you go to Antwerp, Brussels or Paris, be sure to come and visit us on your way, and if you stay in Holland then I won't give up hope either; it's also beautiful here in the winter, and we surely could do something, if not outdoors then working from a model in the house of some peasant or other.


I've been drawing a lot from the model lately, since I've found a couple of models who are willing enough. And I have all kinds of studies of diggers, sowers &c., men and women. I'm working a lot with charcoal and Conté at the moment, and have also tried sepia and watercolour. Anyway, I can't say whether you'd see improvement in my drawings, but most certainly a change.


I hope to visit Mauve again soon to discuss the question of whether or not I should start painting. if I start, I'll also persevere. I'll talk it over again with various people before I begin, though. I realize more and more as time goes on that it was good that I set my mind more specifically on figure drawing. Indirectly, this really does influence landscape drawing as well, because one learns to concentrate.


I'd send you a couple of sketches if I had the time, but I'm very occupied with all kinds of things, though later you'll receive some more. Should you not stay in the country, I'd be pleased to have your address. In any case, I'll have more to write to you this winter. Do you mind if I keep Karl Robert, Le fusain, for a while longer? It's because, working with charcoal now, I still need it so much, but if I go to The Hague I'll see to it that I get one myself. It would surprise me very much if I weren't to stay in Etten this winter – this is my plan at least, anyway not to go abroad. Because I've been rather fortunate since coming back here to Holland, not only in drawing but in other things as well. Anyway, I'll carry on here for a while, I spent so many years abroad, in England as well as in France and Belgium, that it's high time I stayed here for a while. You know what's absolutely beautiful these days, the road to the station and to Leur with the old pollard willows, you have a sepia of it yourself. I can't tell you how beautiful those trees are now. Made around 7 large studies of several of the trunks.


I'm absolutely certain that if you were here now when the leaves are falling, even if only for a week, you would make something beautiful of it. if you feel like coming, it would give all of us here pleasure.


 


 
[image: illustratie]




 


Accept my parents' warm regards and a handshake in thought from me, and believe me


 


Ever yours,


Vincent


 


 


My dear Theo,


 


What2 I think is the best life, oh without even the slightest shadow of a doubt, is a life made up of long years of being in touch with nature out of doors – and with the something on high – unfathomable, ‘awfully Unnameable’, because one can't find a name for it – above that nature. Be a peasant – be, if that were fitting at the present time, a village clergyman or schoolmaster – be, and given the present time that's the form that seems to me to be the most fitting, be a Painter – and in so doing as a person you will, after that spell of years of outdoor life and manual work, as a person you will, in the end and in the passage of years, gradually become something better and deeper. I firmly believe this. In my view, the way one starts out, cleverer, not so clever, with more or with fewer privileges of favourable circumstances, is far from being the most important thing. if one starts on it one must only do it with the belief in the need to be in touch with nature, with the belief that if one takes that path one can't go wrong, and walks straightest. And – added to that is just precisely that if one had things easy, a sort of living on private means, it would be of very little help, for it is precisely many a hard day, precisely many forlorn attempts, that make someone better.


And what I believe does a great deal of good is if one doesn't work absolutely alone, because the work inevitably absorbs one, but one doesn't become lost in that absorption because each advises the other, can keep the other on the right path.


If you were to talk to people, they'd say to you, what are you thinking of, what a reckless gamble to give up this and that, etc. In short, people would think it crazy – think it a mistake. For myself, I would think the recklessness must lie in a different outlook on life from the one I'm talking about – that of Painter – I think reckless is precisely binding oneself irrevocably to the city and city affairs.


People will tell you, you're a fanatic and you don't foresee the future – in my view you do foresee the future, in my view in a period like the one you're in now, certainly after such emotional experiences as you have had, one can't be fanatical then, one is in a period of disenchantment. People needn't try to twist things with me, that won't wash with me. I feel my own incurable melancholy about the way one thing and another has gone, and they try to tell me I was in a mood of ‘rash, youthful fanaticism’. Far, very far from it. In your frame of mind one is in damned earnest.


It isn't something soft, something sweet that you think you will find; no, you know that it will be a fight as if with a rock; no, you know that nature can't be conquered or made submissive without a terrible fight, without more than the ordinary level of patience.


And people would imagine your state of mind, if one were to talk about becoming a painter, as a delusion of a bed of roses.


I ask you, what do people who might only vaguely begin to think that way know about it? That's the way the world is, though, but that's only one of its enormities when it comes to misunderstanding, by no means the worst. It's precisely because of this deadly contrariness of public opinion that it's obvious that one should ignore it. One feels that things are wretched and all too wrong; – however calm and cheerful and full of serenity by nature, one becomes utterly melancholy, feels that this can't be different, and then, what is more practical than to say, if I don't do something about it I'll lose my energy and vitality, I'm going to refresh, renew myself in nature, I'm just going to tackle it very differently, and I'll arrange it in such a way that in a few years' time, say, I have altogether new, firm ground beneath my feet.


I have no patience with the ‘so-called’ common sense (fake article, inexpressibly different from the real thing) that one is supposed to use, that one is said not to use if one departs from the ordinary or takes a risk. I say, I have no patience with it. For me, it is precisely because my natural common sense, if I use it to reflect, leads me to such very different results from the narrow-minded worldly wisdom & cautious, half-hearted sincerity of some people, that I have no patience with it.


Oh that procrastination, oh those hesitations, oh that failure to believe that good is good, that black is black and white is white. Dear brother – I cannot speak; now, at this moment, I am glad that I can only express myself falteringly, chaotically and roughly. I am glad that I cannot write to you coherently like Tersteeg and Pa – at this moment.


I believe so strongly in your artistic ability that to me you will be an artist as soon as you pick up a brush or a piece of chalk and, clumsily or not clumsily, make something.


Before you can express yourself in your work, namely a straightforward, thinking manly soul – peaceable – good – before you can do that, a very great deal has to happen, but it will come. At first one does not paint as one is, certainly not when one is good. But right away there is a je ne sais quoi – I already see it now in your word pictures of bits of Paris &c., I would see it in your first sketches or studies too.


When I think of Pa himself, then it seems to me that it is to his contact with nature that Pa owes his goodness, and his mistake, to my mind, is to attach more value to other things than they are basically worth. To me, Pa is someone who did not have any knowledge of the intimate lives of some great men when he should have had it. I mean that, in my view, Pa does not know, did not know nor ever will know what the soul of modern civilization is. What is it? The eternal, the very greatest simplicity and truth – Dupré, Daubigny, Corot, Millet, Israëls, Herkomer – not to mention Michelet, Hugo, Zola, Balzac, a host more from the more distant & more recent past. If prejudices, which Pa has carried with him throughout his life with an assiduousness worthy of a better cause, stand in his way – to me he is a black ray. The only criticism I have of Pa is: why isn't he a white ray? This is harsh criticism, so be it, I can't help it. To you I say, look for white ray, white, do you hear! With a handshake.


 


Ever yours,


Vincent


 


I don't say, far, very far be it for me to say that I have a white ray, but I am not embarrassed to say it exists, that white light – and I seek it, that alone do I consider simple.


 


 


My dear old Bernard,


 


A3 thousand thanks for sending your drawings; I very much like the avenue of plane trees beside the sea, with two women chatting in the foreground and the promenaders. Also


the woman under the apple tree


the woman with the umbrella


then the four drawings of nude women, especially the one washing herself, a grey effect embellished with black, white, yellow, brown. It's charming.


Ah... Rembrandt.... all admiration for baudelaire apart - i venture to assume, especially on the basis of those verses.... that he knew more or less nothing about rembrandt. I have just found and bought here a little etching after rembrandt, a study of a nude man, realistic and simple; he's standing, leaning against a door or column in a dark interior. A ray of light from above skims his down-turned face and the bushy red hair.


You'd think it a Degas for the body, true and felt in its animality.


But see, have you ever looked closely at ‘the ox’ or the interior of a butcher's shop in the Louvre? You haven't looked closely at them, and Baudelaire infinitely less so.


It would be a treat for me to spend a morning with you in the Dutch gallery. All that is barely describable. But in front of the paintings I could show you marvels and miracles that are the reason why, for me, the primitives really don't have my admiration first and foremost and most directly.


But there you are; I'm so far from eccentric. A Greek statue, a peasant by Millet, a Dutch portrait, a nude woman by Courbet or Degas, these calm and modelled perfections are the reason why many other things, the primitives as well as the Japanese, seem to me.... like writing with a pen; they interest me infinitely.. but something complete, a perfection, makes the infinite tangible to us.


And to enjoy such a thing is like coitus, the moment of the infinite.


For instance, do you know a painter called Vermeer, who, for example, painted a very beautiful Dutch lady, pregnant? This strange painter's palette is blue, lemon yellow, pearl grey, black, white. Of course, in his few paintings there are, if it comes to it, all the riches of a complete palette, but the arrangement of lemon yellow, pale blue, pearl grey is as characteristic of him as the black, white, grey, pink is of Velázquez.


Anyway, I know, Rembrandt and the Dutch are scattered around museums and collections, and it's not very easy to form an idea of them if you only know the Louvre.


However, it's Frenchmen, C. Blanc, Thoré, Fromentin, certain others, who have written better than the Dutch on that art.


Those Dutchmen had scarcely any imagination or fantasy, but great taste and the art of arrangement; they did not paint Jesus Christs, the Good Lord and others. Rembrandt though – indeed, but he's the only one (and there are relatively few biblical subjects in his oeuvre), he's the only one who, as an exception, did Christs, &c.


And in his case, they hardly resemble anything by other religious painters; it's a metaphysical magic.


So, Rembrandt painted angels – he makes a portrait of himself as an old man, toothless, wrinkled, wearing a cotton cap – first, painting from life in a mirror – he dreams, dreams, and his brush begins his own portrait again, but from memory, and its expression becomes sadder and more saddening; he dreams, dreams on, and why or how I do not know, but just as Socrates and Mohammed had a familiar genie, Rembrandt, behind this old man who bears a resemblance to himself, paints a supernatural angel with a Da Vinci smile.


I'm showing you a painter who dreams and who paints from the imagination, and I started off by claiming that the character of the Dutch is that they invent nothing, that they have neither imagination nor fantasy.


Am I illogical? No. Rembrandt invented nothing, and that angel and that strange Christ; it's – that he knew them, felt them there.


Delacroix paints a Christ through the unexpectedness of a light lemon note, this colourful and luminous note in the painting being what the ineffable strangeness and charm of a star is in a corner of the firmament.


Rembrandt works with values in the same way as Delacroix with colours.


Now, there's a gulf between the method of Delacroix and Rembrandt and that of all the rest of religious painting.


I'll write to you again soon. This to thank you for your drawings, which give me enormous pleasure.


Have just finished portrait of young girl of 12, brown eyes, black hair and eyebrows, flesh yellow grey, the background white, strongly tinged with veronese, jacket blood-red with violet stripes, skirt blue with large orange spots, an oleander flower in her sweet little hand.


I'm so worn out from it that I hardly have a head for writing. So long, and again, many thanks.


 


Ever yours,


Vincent


 


 


My dear sister,


 


I'm4 adding a few words for you to Mother's letter. Last Sunday I had a visit from Theo and his family, I find it most agreeable to be less far away from them. Lately I've been working a lot and quickly; by doing so I'm trying to express the desperately swift passage of things in modern life.


Yesterday in the rain I painted a large landscape viewed from a height in which there are fields as far as the eye can see, different types of greenery, a dark green field of potatoes, between the regular plants the lush, violet earth, a field of peas in flower whitening to the side, a field of pink-flowered lucerne with a small figure of a reaper, a field of long, ripe grass, fawn in hue, then wheatfields, poplars, a last line of blue hills on the horizon, at the bottom of which a train is passing, leaving behind it an immense trail of white smoke in the greenery. A white road crosses the canvas. On the road a little carriage and white houses with stark red roofs beside this road. Fine rain streaks the whole with blue or grey lines.


There's another landscape with vineyards and meadows in the foreground, the roofs of the village coming behind.


And another one with nothing but a green field of wheat which extends up to a white villa surrounded by a white wall with a single tree.


I've done the portrait of Mr Gachet with an expression of melancholy which might often appear to be a grimace to those looking at the canvas. And yet that's what should be painted, because then one can realize, compared to the calm ancient portraits, how much expression there is in our present-day heads, and passion and something like waiting and a shout. Sad but gentle but clear and intelligent, that's how many portraits should be done, that would still have a certain effect on people at times.


There are modern heads that one will go on looking at for a long time, that one will perhaps regret a hundred years afterwards. If I were ten years younger, with what I know now, how much ambition I would have for working on that. In the given conditions I can't do very much, I neither frequent nor would know how to frequent sufficiently the sort of people I would like to influence.


I do hope to do your portrait one day. I'm very curious to have another letter from you, more soon, I hope, I kiss you affectionately in thought.


 


Ever yours,


Vincent.


 


 


My dear brother,


 


Thanks5 for your letter of today and for the 50-franc note it contained.


I'd perhaps like to write to you about many things, but first the desire has passed to such a degree, then I sense the pointlessness of it.


I hope that you'll have found those gentlemen favourably disposed towards you.


As regards the state of peace in your household, I'm just as convinced of the possibility of preserving it as of the storms that threaten it.


I prefer not to forget the little French I know, and certainly wouldn't see the point of delving deeper into the rights or wrongs in any discussions on one side or the other. It's just that this wouldn't interest me. Things go quickly here – aren't Dries, you and I a little more convinced of that, don't we feel it a little more than those ladies? So much the better for them – but anyway, talking with rested minds, we can't even count on that.


As for myself, I'm applying myself to my canvases with all my attention, I'm trying to do as well as certain painters whom I've liked and admired a great deal.


What seems to me on my return – is that the painters themselves are increasingly at bay.


Very well. But has the moment to make them understand the utility of a union not rather passed already? On the other hand a union, if it were formed, would go under if the rest went under. Then you'd perhaps tell me that dealers would unite for the Impressionists; that would be very fleeting. Anyway it seems to me that personal initiative remains ineffective, and having done the experiment, would one begin it again?


I noted with pleasure that the Gauguin from Brittany that I saw was very beautiful, and it seems to me that the others he's done there must be too.


Perhaps you'll see this croquis of Daubigny's garden – it's one of my most deliberate canvases – to it I'm adding a croquis of old thatched roofs and the croquis of 2 no. 30 canvases depicting immense stretches of wheat after the rain. Hirschig asked me to ask you please to order the attached list of colours for him from the same colourman you send me. Tasset can send them directly to him, cash on delivery, but then he would have to be given the 20%.


Which would be simplest.


Or you'd put them into the consignment of colours for me, adding the invoice or telling me how much they cost, and then he'd send you the money. Here one can't find anything good in the way of colours.


I've simplified my own order to a very bare minimum.


Hirschig is beginning to understand a little, it has seemed to me, he's done the portrait of the old schoolmaster, which he gave him, good – and then he has landscape studies which are a little like the Konings at your place as regards colour. It will become completely like that, perhaps, or like the things by Voerman that we saw together.


More soon. Look after yourself, and good luck in business &c. Warm regards to Jo, and handshakes in thought.


 


Yours truly,


Vincent.


 


Daubigny's garden


Foreground of green and pink grass, on the left a green and lilac bush and a stem of plants with whitish foliage. In the middle a bed of roses. To the right a hurdle, a wall, and above the wall a hazel tree with violet foliage.



Then a hedge of lilac, a row of rounded yellow lime trees. The house itself in the background, pink with a roof of bluish tiles. A bench and 3 chairs, a dark figure with a yellow hat, and in the foreground a black cat. Sky pale green.










Van Gogh's correspondence: citation and texts of letters


The quotations from Van Gogh's letters are taken from Vincent van Gogh – The Letters. The Complete Illustrated and Annotated Edition, ed. Leo Jansen, Hans Luijten and Nienke Bakker, 6 vols., Amsterdam / The Hague / London / New York 2009.


This edition is based on the freely accessible scholarly website www.vangoghletters.org. Both publications originate in the Van Gogh Letters Project (1994-2009), a collaboration between the Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam, and the Huygens Institute (Royal Netherlands Academy of Arts and Sciences), The Hague.
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• The Letters of Vincent van Gogh, ed. R. de Leeuw, London 1996.


• Vincent van Gogh, Painted with words. The letters to Emile Bernard, eds. L. Jansen, H. Luijten, N. Bakker. New York 2008.


• J. Hulsker, Vincent and Theo van Gogh. A dual biography, Ann Arbor 1990.


• Vincent's choice. Van Gogh's Musée imaginaire, ed. Chris Stolwijk et al. Exhibition catalogue, Amsterdam & London 2003.
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Van Gogh in focus


Van Gogh in focus is a series of books, initiated by the Van Gogh Museum in Amsterdam on the life and work of Vincent van Gogh. Although so much has been written about this extraordinary artist, many questions still need to be answered or have been addressed only in specialist publications. These small, compact books examine the artist's oeuvre in different contexts throughout the various stages of his life. Each book focuses on specific topics in Van Gogh's art – such as his remarkable paintings of sunflowers, his passionate correspondence, or his deep love of nature – and presents many new facts and insights. The series is fully illustrated with documents, as well as paintings and drawings by Van Gogh.


 


Already published in this series:


Peter Hecht, Van Gogh and Rembrandt


Louis van Tilborgh, Van Gogh and Japan


Hans Luijten, Van Gogh and love


Louis van Tilborgh, Van Gogh and the sunflowers


Nienke Bakker, Van Gogh and Montmartre


John House, Van Gogh and Impressionism


 


For recent information about new and upcoming titles:

www.vangoghmuseum.com/publications
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All works in the collection of the Van Gogh Museum are the property of the Vincent van Gogh Foundation. All photographic rights reserved by the institutions indicated in the captions and by the photographers: ill.45 Joseph Zehavi; ill.34, 37 rmn/Hervé Lewandowski; ill.40 rmn/Michèle Bellot.
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People act AS they fee. Ou actions,our suft readiness o our esitation,
that's how we can be recognized ~ not by what we say with our lips ~
friendly or unfiiendly. Good intentions,opnions, in act that' less than nothing
You may think of me what you will,Theo, ut 1 tell you i’ not my imagination,
1 tel you, Pa s not willing.

1 see now what | saw then, | spoke out four-square AGAINST Pa then, | speak
nowin any event, whatever may come o it, AGAINST A again,as being
unwilling, as making it 1MPOSS1BLE. It's damned sad, brother, the Rappards
acted inteligently, but hre!l1 And everything you did and do about it

314 ofti rendered fitless by them. I's wretched, brother.

With a handshake. Ever yours, Vincent.
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